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Morley College in wartime  

In the summer of 1939 Morley College 

was all set for another successful year. 

The prospectus was finalised, the 

students were enjoying the new 

extension, finished in 1937, which had 

given them eight fine classrooms, a small 

concert hall and a purpose-built library. 

But the possibility of war was known and 

a notice about the evacuation of children 

appeared in the March/April 1939 issue 

of Morley Magazine. 

September 1939 marked the Golden Jubilee of the College, but with the 

outbreak of war, there was a closure of four weeks for the installation of 

blackout and other precautions. Twenty tonnes of earth was supplied 

from Hyde Park for filling flour sacks (sandbags being at a premium), 

which was done by staff and students. It had been necessary to convert 

the gymnasium and refreshment room into air raid shelters. 

By the end of November, just over half the planned 150 classes were 

running, and 1,400 students had enrolled, half the peace-time number. At 

the Emergency meeting of the Morley College Council on September 

26th 1939, it was mentioned that last yearõs students had been contacted 

with a view to discovering how many might attend and what subjects 

they would like to study. Sir Ronald Davison from the College Council 

suggested that Morley should protest strongly about the severity of the 

black-out conditions in London. A resolution was to be sent to the 

Ministry for Home Security, òThat the Minister for Home Security be 

invited to reconsider the policy of the Blackout on the ground of its very 

serious effect on social and cultural life and its depressing effect on the 

morale of the population.ó 



The next meeting was not till November 27th 1939, and it was noted 

that there was evidence of a strong revival of club life in the College. 

Also that it had been decided to bring out a duplicated magazine of four 

or five foolscap pages of the Morley Magazine before Christmas, and to 

open the College on Sunday evenings. In the event a magazine did appear 

in January 1940 and it was to be the last until the autumn of 1945, 

although at least two student-compiled magazines are known to have 

been produced, ôHyphenõ and ôInterrogation Pointõ. 

The Principal reported that attendances in general throughout the 

session had been excellent in spite of the difficulties of the severe winter, 

the black-out and the war situation. (College Council Minutes, 28th May, 

1940) 

 



The year 1939 started with a bold new venture ð a Theatre School, led 

by former ballet dancer Rupert Doone, supported by an impressive list 

of tutors and patrons. After the destruction of the main building, the 

Theatre School moved its activities to the Mary Ward Settlement, 

putting on plays in the Holst Room and elsewhere, and once the debris 

was cleared, created an open-air theatre on the bomb site.  

Winifred Leigh, a founder member, left her archive to Morley, and this 

gives us a unique picture of the Theatre School, chronicling Morley in 

wartime, and includes photographs, programmes, posters and reviews. 

Winifred writes, òOn that first day in the Great Hall of Morley College 

(before it was blitzed), there we were ð Rupert Doone, Francis James, 

Geoffrey Dunn, Miss Mary Skeaping, Miss Gunde von Dechend, about 

one hundred expectant students and me. The tutors sat in an awe-

inspiring row, while one by one the students filed up on the platform, 

each reading a few lines of prose 

or verse of their own choosing. 

Long before it was my turn to go 

up, the session was over, which 

was as well as my knees were 

trembling at the prospect. This did 

not mean that we were not to be 

accepted, no one was turned away 

and the outline of the classes was 

explained to us.ó  

 

The first production was The 

Importance of Being Earnest in 

1941 at the Tavistock Little 

Theatre, followed by Dido and 

Aeneas at the Arts Theatre in 

1942. 



Enrolment week opened as planned in September 1940, but this 

coincided with the bombing raids on London. On September 11th the 

London County Council (L.C.C.) decreed that all evening classes should 

cease until further notice. Two weeks passed with bombing continuing 

night after night, and it became plain that holding evening classes was 

impossible. Eva Hubback devised a still further reduced programme, in 

which all classes would be held during the daytime and at weekends. 

These classes were advertised to start on Saturday, October 19th, 1940.  

The College had been designated as an emergency rest and feeding 

centre, and when three blocks of Council flats ð Lidford House,York 

House and Colwyn House had been hit in early October, many families 

moved into the College. They were cared for by workers from the Lady 

Margaret Hall Settlement, who supplied them with three meals a day. A 

few days later a further group from Mountain House joined them. This 

made around 250 men, women and children being housed in the College. 

At night about a third of them went across the road to Lambeth North 

Underground station; the remainder slept in the gymnasium and 

refreshment-room, which had been protected with sandbags  

On Tuesday evening, October 15th, the alert sounded as usual. Most of 

the families had gathered in the two protected rooms, but many others 

continued to chat and play elsewhere in the building. At 7.45 p.m., a 

1,000 kilogram high explosive bomb seared through the roof of the 

Prince of Wales Hall and exploded. The entire block collapsed like a 

pack of cards. Debris from the blast obliterated many of the houses 

opposite, leaving an immense cloud of thick dust. With the help of Mr. 

Dovey, the College school keeper, the rescuers were able to reach most 

of the trapped families fairly soon; but it was twenty days before the last 

two bodies were recovered. In all, it was found that 195 people had been 

on the premises.  



Eighty-four people escaped unhurt but fifty-four were injured and fifty-

seven were killed outright or died later in hospital. The dead included 

the assistant schoolkeeper, Rosser, and three of his family ð the only 

casualties connected with the College. Lost were the beautiful murals, 

souvenirs of the days at the Old Vic, and virtually every record except 

the Council minutes and Cash Books, which had been placed in a small 

safe, discovered undamaged under piles of debris.  

The structure of the steel-framed Extension appeared sound, and the 

Library and Holst Room were undamaged except for broken windows 

and skylights. A volunteer party armed with picks, shovels and sledge-

hammers established a path to it through the debris. 

Eva Hubback made no fuss about the loss of the building, but deplored 

only the loss of life. Morley, she declared, would get a much better 

building when peace returned. She wrote letters of sympathy to the four 

artists responsible for the mural decorations in the old building: Eric 

Ravilious, Edward Bawden, Charles Mahoney and John Anthony Greene. 



It was suggested that the College close for the duration of the war, but 

that was found unacceptable, so the L.C.C. offered to lend a school, if 

the College could find one. The College Secretary and Assistant 

Secretary set off on a search of the neighbourhood, and found Johanna 

Street School. By the Saturday after the bombing, 21 classes had been 

scheduled and 164 students had enrolled. An emergency canteen was set 

up in a corridor at the College and the administration functioned from a 

corner of the Library.  

By Saturday 21st December, a tea was held in the Holst Room with 

entertainment from the Theatre School and Orchestra. The following 

day a discussion was held about the Future of Morley and a Carol Service 

was held in Christ Church. By the middle of 1941, the bombing raids had 

lessened and classes began to pick up. 



With the loss of the Prince of Wales Hall, the scope for lectures was 

reduced as the maximum number allowed in the Holst Room was 100. 

Nevertheless an ambitious programme was organised, with a series 

called ôFrom Now Onó featuring George Orwell and Stephen Spender. 

Two sets of lectures on ôBalletõ in 1942 and 1943 proved to be really 

popular with people having to be turned away. Ninette de Valois 

lectured twice, and on the second occasion refused to take a fee. Lydia 

Sokolova, a former dancer with Diaghilev talked first on The Diaghilev 

Russian Ballet, and came again to talk on Nijinsky, Karsavina and Pavlova.  

Students make their way in through a temporary entrance, 1944 

The end of the war brought large numbers of students back to Morley 

and they soon overfilled the depleted accommodation.  Classes took 

place in various local schools for many years until the new building was 

completed in 1958.  

Sources: Offspring of the Vic: (Denis Richards), Morley Magazine, 

College Council Minutes, ARP Report. 


